
..... - '" 

, - ~ 

HURLEYVILLE. SCHOOL 

75th JUBILEE 
1892-1967 

* SOUVENIR BOOKLET * 



PROGRA:MME 
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The history in this booklet has been compiled from informa­ 
tion gathered by the Committee, chiefly by interviews with as 
many residents. and former residents as possible. We- wish to 
thank the following for their contribution in this regard:- 

Messrs Douglas Roots, Jerry and Joseph-Hurley, Frances 
McCarthy, Len Newell, Nelson Scown, Albert Nickel, Roy Jones, 
Hugh Cornwall, Miss K. Nelson, Mrs. Ethel Bourke, Mrs. Emily 
Chadwick and Mother Mary Ita (Crompton). We had hoped to 

. interview a number of other people, but unfortunately the dead­ 
line for sending the booklet to the printers cut these activities 
short. In addition, we would like to thank Mr. Des Hurley, who 
contributed most valuable information - from the Patea Mail 
about Hurleyville's early land sales, etc. 

Thanks also to Mr. Livingstone Baker, who made his exten­ 
sive library of books on early Taranaki available for reference. 
It was decided, however, that the historical events leading up to 
the settlement of the district would be of less interest to our 
readers and this period has therefore been mentioned only 
briefly. Similarly, outside events which had only an indirect 
effect on Hurleyville have been omitted. 

We have, of course, drawn on the useful information printed 
in the 1957 Jubilee Booklet written by MJ,'. Barry arid in addition, 
the Education Board have provided notes from their files. 

All this has entailed much work for the Committee, especi­ 
ally for Mr. Turner who wrote out the account as it appears 
in this booklet, but we all feel that it has been a most interesting 
and rewarding experience. 

And it is our hope that readers will find something of interest 
here too. No doubt they will notice details that have been 
omitted or question the accuracy of some statements. They 
are urged to take any such criticisms to t4.e ~ommittee and these 
will be noted and added to the file being -built up at theschool 
for the use of future generations. Copies of any early photo­ 
graphs of the district or its settlers would still be welcomed for 
this file. 

The story summarised in these pages shows that' the people 
of Hurleyville have good reason to be proud of their forebears' 
achievements in clearing the bush' and establishing farms and 
homes. And perhaps those early settlers, who came from many 
parts of the British Isles and the continent of Europe, would 
also be proud -to see the tolerant and fair-minded. spirit which 
unites our prosperous little -community today. 

A. J. TU~NER (Chairman). 
L. B. BURKHART C. S. COLLINS {M.A) .. 

FRIDAY, 19th May- 

8.0 p.m.: Jubilee Ball in Hurleyville Hall. 

SATURDAY, 20th May- 

7 p.m.: Jubilee Banquet. 

1.30 p.m.: Official W. elcome. 
Roll Call and Photos. 
Cutting of Jubilee Cake. 
Display of Photos. 
Afternoon Tea. 

SUNDAY, 21st May- 

11.15 a.m.: Combined Thanksgiving Service. 

IltlltlllUflHtlnltlllllllllJlII'HIIIIlIlIIlIlIIlIfIlIlIIIIlIIlIIJIIIIIIIIII!1111tIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII'IUIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIOIIIIIII 

JUBILEE COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

Executive Committee: 
Mr. H. Hurley (Chairman), Mrs. D. Newell (Secretary), 

Mr. V. Bloor (Treasurer), Mrs. G. Aitken, Mrs. J. Barr, Mr. L. 
Burkhart, Mr. C. Collins, Mr. K. Hurley, Mr. B. Newell, Mr. 1. 
Rowe, Mr. I.- Schultz, Mr. N. Scown, Mr. A. Turner. 

General Committee: 
Mr. R. Barr, Mr. D. Hurley, Mr. R. Jones, Mr. R. Hurley, 

Mr. M. Hurley and Mr. R. Thurston. 
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A Message From The Jubilee Committee 

* In presenting this booklet, we trust that it may bring back' 
many thoughts and happenings in the past 75 years. 

Could we ·think of the past and present pupils that- have 
passed through the school in the years 1892-1967. 

Could we pay a tribute to the teachers, past and present, 
and to the Committee who have given years of service to the 
school. 

Could we pay a tribute to the boys that answered the 
call in the two World Wars and our greatest sympathy for 

e ones who never returned. . 
I would like to say thanks to those who helped in the 

organising of the Jubilee, and to the others who offered their 
services. Also a thank you to the present Chairman and School 
Committe for the help they have given. 

We've come a long way from times gone by. To look at 
the district today, you wouldn't think it possible 75 years ago, 
and I hope that the school and district will go ahead, just as 
much, in the future. 

H. E. (Sam) HURLEY, 
. Chairman of the Jubilee Committee. 

HURLEYVILLE SCHOOL, 1987 
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School and District 

* 
1866. Octavius Carrington's men rode most cautiously into 

the towering ratas and thick bush of Hurleyville. Sir George 
Grey had just confiscated all Maori lands from Hawera to Patea 
contrary to all-the promises made by the British Government in 
the Treaty of Waitangi. 

Titokowaru, local Hau Hau leader, was not a man to take 
this lying down. While he was organising; the surveyors sighted, 
measured and thankfully returned to New Plymouth. Fighting 
broke out. Whitmore sent a column of his Imperial Forces with 
some friendly Maoris against Titokowaru at Otauto in 1869 and' 
sent another column to the Gentle Annie area to cut off any 
'possible Maori retreat in that direction. 

The defeated, half-starved Maori warriors filtered through 
the Gentle Annie forces and retreated across central Hurleyville 
to Whakamara. A smaller band fled with. Kimble Bent, a 
pakeha-Maori up the Patea River. 

On the 28th October, 1876, the Patea Courthouse saw the 
auction of 26 blocks of confiscated land. 

T. Struthers bought 164 acres for £296 17s., Blocks 603, 604 
and 598. W. Dale bought 244 acres for £244 10s, Block 619. T. 
Roots bought 147 acres for £202 lOs 6d, Blocks 616 and 617, and 

. Felix McCarthy bought 239 acres for £239, Block 630 . 

Settlement was on its way. Felix passed his block over to 
Pat McCarthy in settlement of a debt. Young Paddy, just arrived 
from Larugh in Kerry, built the first house at the corner of Ball 
and Wilford Roads, stocked his few clear top paddocks with 
Shorthorn beef cattle and set about removing the bush and 
raising a family. 

The Hurley family emigrated from Castlemaine, also in 
Kerry-"each going was like a death in the house't-c-stopped 
briefly in Australia and Charleston on the West Coast, then 
pooled their funds to establish first John on a Whenuakura farm, 
then Pat in a Patea hotel, Timothy on his Hurleyville farm, and 
finally Dan in the Alton Hotel. About 1878, Timothy, following 
Closely behind Pat McCarthy, and T. Struthers, built his house, 
now part of Mr. L. Burkhart's property, along Hurley Road. His 
brothers followed in early 1883. Daniel's house is now part of 
Mr. Frank Cowley's residence while Pat's house-cum-store is -. 
now used as a residence by Mr. V. Bloor. With these came Messrs 
Witford and Ned Clarke. Close behind were Thomas Roots and 



Amos Cornwall with their families. Crown land was then £1 per 
acre. 

The struggle then was -to survive. Limited markets were 
found in Patea for butter and fat stock. As the taming of the 

. bush went on and the families grew, the men felt the need for 
a local school. Led by Pat Hurley, the Education Board was 
approached and they agreed to build a school if the numbers 
warranted. A small area opposite the present store was cleared 
of bush by the brothers George and Amos Cornwall, and in early 
1892, Mr. Thomas Lloyd of Wanganui began work on the 
building, As the numbers didn't warrant a school, Mr. Pat 
Hurley stacked the first day attendance with sufficient "ring-ins" 
e.g. Ettie Chadwick, to reach the required numbers. The great 
day dawned and on the 15th August, 1892, Hurleyville School 
officially opened with a first day enrolment of the following 23 
pupilst-e- 

Ettie Chadwick 
Annie Cornwall 
Louisa Cornwall 
Dan Hurley 

(son of Daniel Hurley) 
Dan Hurley 

(son of Timothy Hurley) 
Evalene Hurley 
Eugene Hurley 
George Hurley 
John Hurley 
Maggie Hurley 
Maria Hurley 

Pat Hurley was friendly with' the Right Honourable R. J. 
Seddon and the great man was' probably previously collected by 
a buggy from Lower Ball Road for the turning of the first sad 
and "King Dick" himself declared the school to be named 
"Hurleyville". The name had been sugggested by a non-Hurley 
and agreed to by all. The chair used on this occasion by Richard 
Seddon is now the property of Mr. J. Hurley. 

Maud Hurley 
Nellie Hurley 
Frank Innes 
Leonard Innes 
Mabel Innes 
Beatrice Judd 
Maud Judd 
Minnie Judd 
Ethel Morrison 
J ames Morrison 
Winnie (May) Roots 
N orman Roots 

The first teacher was Mr. J: D. Innes. Mr. John Morrison, 
at the end of Hurley Road, knew him well and invited him to 
become the first teacher. He did so, coming from Maxwell to 
live on the property now owned by Mr. J. Hurley and being paid 
£100 per year. 
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ORIGINAL SCHOOL GROUP IN 1894 

Back row: Mr. J. Tamblyn, Maggie Hurley, -, -J Miss Mantle, _, John Hurley 
Dan Hurley (son of Duntef}, Thomas Walsh. ' 

Middle Row: Ethel Morrison, Maud Hurley, -, Winnie Roots, Emily Hurley, Irene 
Hurley, Evalene Hurley, Nora McCarthy, James Morrison, Eugene McCarthy, Eugene 

Hurley, George Hurley. 
Front row: Constal1~e Morrison! Nellie Hur-ley, Douglas Roots, Maria Hurley, -r--r-, 

Dan Hurley (son of Timothy), Norman Roots, Gcorg~ GOUld, _. 

The orig-inal dairy racrorv in HJ25 (June Proffit in the foreground) 



The school itself was a building approximately 20ft. x 40ft. 
built to accommodate 40 children. The floor was terraced and the 
desks rose in tiers. The children had a school. The magnificent 
Norfolk Pine was probably planted about this time. 

with compulsory vaccination for all. The idea was good, but 
after the first child got the first jab, the rest scattered through 
the windows and the doors and were unable to be caught. 

By 1904, the' school porch had been enlarged to make a 
much needed extra room 20ft. x 13ft. as the school roll was 
building up to its maximum of 71, which it reached in 1907. 

The view from the classroom window was now changing. 
About 1900, stumping had cleared much of the surrounding 
area. The district's pride and joy, the new hall, could be seen, the 
two-roomed schoolhouse, just as recently demolished as March, 
1967, faced the road and along the road came Bretherton driving 
the first herd ot. Jerseys, or Clarke driving the new Romneys 
to his holding (now B. Newell's). , 

These new breeds were introduced in an endeavour to over­ 
come the deterioration in the soil fertility. This deterioration 
also led to the gorse and manuka threatening to get out of hand. 
The farms at the time, were perhaps more specialised than they 
are nowadays, e.g. Gibbs and McRae over the Makino had 
cocksfoot farms. Times were still hard for many. There used to 
be 10 farms along the Patea River, all of which now comprise 
McColl Brothers property. Some were Dumpy Spears" Winks, 
I'ocker, Ted Hurley, Frank Greaves and Jackson Symes, while 
Oakey was another who found the bush and remoteness giant 
obstacles. " 

Refrigeration 
Our pioneering forefathers went back to the battle to 

survive. The Patea butter market had become over-supplied and 
new markets had to be found urgently. At this time, although 
Mr. J.' A. McKenna continued to, pay 2~d a pound for the butter 
cakes, he had to tell his block dray driver, Mr. Jack Boyle, to 
dump the surplus under a hedge. Refrigeration led to the setting 
up of the Hurley Road factory in 1893 to feed the new market 
and thus, with the increasing overseas demand for wool, was 
established the pattern of farming that we still practise today. 
This butter-producing factory cost £270 to build and was first 
managed by Mr. Bobin. After a few years, the switch was made 
to cheese. However, the cream supply was more than the local 
'factory could cope with, so some was sent to Kakaramea or 
Hawera. ' 

1902 saw the Wilford Road creamery built. It was managed 
by Fritz Nickel who separated the shorthorn milk by steam 
boiler. This cream was then carted to the Kakaramea butter 
factory. 

1893 was the year the Hurleyville Post Office opened. This 
was a room at the back of Pat Hurley's store. This was the time 
of the big burn-offs and big they were. The January, 1892 blaze 
cost Scown and Nicholas 200 bags of cocksfoot seed besides tents 
and bedding, while Clark, Clifford and Morrison lost seed and 
standing grass, This fire was just getting into its stride when 
rain saved the day but left the countryside looking anything but 
attractive. The blackened stumps led to a novel way of getting 
to school-get there without touching the ground. It could be 
done. 

About 1908, a fire started in a rimu tree and spread, fed 
by logs, fern and scrub, from the top of Kawaiti Road down to 
Ball Road. Eugene Hurley and his neighbours battled feverishly 
all night and then earthed up his "whare," where Mrs. Mary 
Jean Hurley lives at present, to prevent it catching fire. The 
fire, however, swung away and burnt itself out at the Ingahape 
Stream. 

Slates And Pencils 

In school in 1897, slates and pencils were used and the 
abacus for + X 

Should you misspell three words, you earned the supplejack 
-which hurt. For talking or a minor cheating offence, you were 
stood on a chair all day! At playtime, there was little playground 
space available as the small cleared area around the school was 
a mass of stumps and burnt logs. However, a merry-go-round 
like a giant maypole with ropes and chains was put up and the 
roadwas very useful for races, ball games, etc. The children, 
although getting book learning, remained shy, half wild 
creatures. For instance, in 1900, -there was the smallpox epidemic 

The Storekeepers 

. From 1913, the district had a more direct line to the outside 
world when Mr. Ridge, the storekeeper, ran a private line to the 
store and between 9 and 5, anyone on the line could ring the 
store or ring out via the storekeeper. These storekeepers were 
men with their finger on the heart of Hurleyville ~d many of 
them went to great lengths to provide a community ~i~, ,e.g. 
they took mail and supplies by pack horse across th,_e former 
Patea River swing bridge twice a week and also deltvered.stores :,,"'. 
twice a week to Taylors, who occupied the section behind. lclr. S. 
Utrobiu's farm. 



· As completely as can be established the shopkeepers were- 

P. Hurley Olsen (1918-19). 
Nicholas (1900). E. J. Bassett (1919-26). 
Elrum Davy. C. G. Dunbar (1926-49). 
J. O. Taylor (1912). H. W. Boyce (1949-515). 
J. Ridge (1913-17). V. and M. Bloor (1958- 
Marsha.! (1917-18). 

a cliff as it wasn't worth it to sell them. Cows fetched £4. Many 
farmers, e.g. Scown's went. info farming cows as well as sheep 
to try to earn the missing income. The back farms from Milne's 
up to and including McColl's, reverted to scrub due to lack of 
money to pay scrub cutters or to lack of manure. Besides the 
marginal land farmers, perhaps the hardest hit were the share­ 
milkers. 

Machines And Manure 
The mechanical age now arrived with a rush with its milking 

machines shearing machines and cars, and about 1919, Hurley­ 
ville took another- great step forward with the tentative begin­ 
nings of manuring. Poor soil was not overcome in a day for ~n 
1922-23, Dot McCarthy bought a trainload of Aberdeen Angus m 
to deal with the poor pasture problem. 

Ragwort was now nearly all pervasive and many farms were 
a sea of yellow. This noxious weed drove many farmers, parti­ 
cularly in upper Hurleyville, into sheep, which, under very close 
cropping, did eat the ragwort, although many died. Manual 
hoeing was a nightmare and now thistle appeared. 

The Black Milestone 
1930 marked a milestone in Hurleyville's history and one 

that Hurleyville was glad to pass, for it brought the depression 
apd ragwort. Prices fell and the Is 5d paid for cream a pou.nd 
went down with a bump to 6d a pound for superfine. Top quality 
two-tooth ewes sold for 12s 6_d while the worst were lucky to 
fetch Is. It is said that the late George Craft drove a flock over 

1931. On February 3rd, - a severe earthquake was felt, 
consisting of tremors from the disastrous Napier earthquake. In 
1933, the old cheddar factory was badly damaged by a fire in the 
boiler room and it 'was decided to build a new: one at the corner 
of Ball and Makino Roads. 

The Way Ahead 

But the tide had turned at last. Power and a better tele­ 
phone service put fingers into the area and began to spread 
Mr. Len Newell opened new vistas with his manure drill. In 
1936, the knapsack sprayer, using sodium chlorate, held ragwort 
in check, while on some farms, a 40-gallon drum was fitted with 
four to five leads- and a hand pump, drawn on a sledge, 'and with 
four to five neighbours assisting, moved through the six foot 
weed dealing out death. Labour and still more labour was needed 
for the cropping, etc., and this was supplied under contract by 
Tepita, chief at Kakaramea Pa. But now this demand was 
lessened by the coming of the baler. The first one, in 1940, was 
stationary and run by George Schultz, a contractor. He also 
brought the first hedge cutter, a steel-wheeled Fordson, into the 
district in1946. 

The Numbers Go Down 

This was the Mllkl" ••• 

But what of the school about this time. It had dropped to a 
sole charge school for a _ few years during the late 1920's. 
Methods were changing with the fuller use of scientifically 
designed apparatus, Remember Montessori? In 1938, the children 
were taken regularly by lorry to Patea to learn to swim. In 1939, 
a percussion band was formed at the school and also Calf Clubs 
started about this time. In late 1940, power finally came to the 
school. 



War 

War struck Hurleyville, all the young blood was called up 
and many enlisted as is shown by the Roll of Honour. The labour 
shortage returned with a vengeance and the women squelched 
back to the sheds. The war clouds rolled over and most of the 
combatants returned to help the quickening progress and pros- 
perity of this area. 

The 1950's brought the automatic telephone exchange, the 
i951 introduction of aerial topdressing and the 1958 microwave 
transmitting station. Leisure time was used to hunt opossums 
or goats which had recently become more plentiful, or to take 
part in the 1955 scramble races on Nel Scown's lower farm. 

The Factory Closes 

A number of farmers were turning to sheep, and, as the 
number of suppliers to the local factory had dropped to 12 by 
1963, the district decided, much against the convictions of some, 
to close the dairy factory and merge with the Alton Cheese 
Factory. This merger brought the tanker and a different way 
of life to the dairy farmer. Bernie and Kevin Hurley adapted 
to the new circumstances and continued progress with the 
introduction of the first herring-bone cowshed in the area in 
June, 1964. 

The Numbers Rise 

But the bell has rung so it's back to school. A school which 
dropped to a sole charge again for 10 years from 1944, and the 
roll sank to an all-time low of 12 briefly in 1949. In 1945, the 
schoolroom was given a major facelifting. Numbers grew, until 
in 1955 the hall was used as a classroom by Miss Doyle. A 
spaceheater was installed. The hall was also called into use in 
1957 for Standard III and IV owing to the lack of space in the 
single room. 1959 saw Pat Barry taking the children down to 
the new Alton School Baths for swimming lessons, and the 
building of the new toilet block. . 

Progress AntI Change 

1960 ushered in the decade of the great jump forward. The 
tennis court was laid splendidly, apart from a mild touch of 
frostbite. Also in 1960, in fact on the 11th of July, foundations 
for the present prefabricated infant classroom were laid and the 
building erected. 1961. The original schoolhouse was given a 
£1000 renovation and the main 'schoolroom was repiled. 

Hurleyville School and District 

J',Dil-L t· n ~l~.'--3 
G. Craft W. McDermot N, Scown 
D. Crompton S. McDannel John Taylor 

F. Crompton T, McMullan James Taylor 
J, Crompton Stanley Miles S, Taylor 
J. Dick Sydney Miles W. Taylor 

F. Greaves F. 1 elson P. Vincent 
C, Hodge F. Newton S. Vincent 
Joe IIurley A. Roots W. VJncent 
F. McCarthy D. Roots 
F, M. McCarthy J. Scown 

Sgt. H. Bird ':'Pte, R. Jones Pte. T, Prouse 

Cpt. G, Corbett Pte. E. Jones Pte. J. Redwood 

Pte. A. Couchman Pte, J, McGorman Pte. S, Rush 

':'Pte. T. Hurley Pte. J, McDonald L/Cpl. N. Scown 
Pte. D, Hamblyn Pte, R. Newell Pte. E. Scown 

Pte, C. Hucker Sgt. V. Newell Pte. G, Schultz 
Dvr. W. Hurley Pte. J. Niven Pte, H. Smale 
Pte. D. Johnson Pte, M. Smith 

':' Killed In Action. 



1963. The very creditable school baths were now built, 
largely by local voluntary labour, assisting the contractor, Mr. 
S. C. Wicks. The sheds, fences and paving were built solely by 
the local residents who generously gave time and money to 
achieve this much used district asset. 

1965. The tennis netting, retaining posts, and the solid 
volley-board were put up. 

1967. The old school house, now reassembled in New 
Plymouth, was cut through the middle and removed to make 
way for the attractive, new Keith Hay residence now on the same 
site. 

1966 .saw the last year of Hurleyville as a full primary 
school. From now, it would be a contributing school, for, despite 
a majority who favoured the retention of the local full primary 
school, the Patea Forms I to VI High School had been estab­ 
lished and from now on, Mr. Millar would he leaving from the 
top of the hill at 7.50 a.m. with his load of Standards V and VI 
pupils. 

SCHOOL GROUP - 1932. 

Back row: T. Hurley, W. Hurley, - Couchman, W. Adlam, - Couchman, E. Scown, 
R. Newell, T. Adlarn.. 

Middle row: G. Redley, R. Hurley, J. Adlarn, T. Scown, J. Williams, 1. Burkhart, V. 
Adlam, E. Williams, E.' Hurley, M. Bur khart, 

Front row: C. Cameron, N. Rodley, E. Cameron, M. Hurley, 1. Williams, L. Burkhart, 
C. Smith, D. Dunbar, D. Williams. 

Residents of Hurleyville --1967 

* 
BAL1~ ROAD: 

Mr. and Mrs. W. Beattie, Mr. and, Mrs. T. Hurley,. Mr. 
and Mrs. 1. Schultz, Mr. R. Schultz, Mr. and Mrs. P. Metcalf, 
Mr. and Mrs. D. Hurley, Mrs. H. Hurley, Mr. and Mrs. J. 
Bonner, Mr. J. Bonner, jun., Mr. and Mrs. V. Bloor, Mr. and 
Mrs. A. J. Turner, Mr. and Mrs. W. G. "Hurley, Messrs E. and 
J. Hurley, Mr. and Mrs. R. Jones, Mr. R. Peters, Mr. and Mrs. 
A. Aitken, Mr. and Mrs. N. Scown, Mr. and Mrs. W. Jenkins, 
Mr. and Mrs. K. Hurley, Mr. B. Hurley, Mrs. M. A. Hurley. 

HURLEY ROAD: 

Mr. and Mrs. L. Burkhart, Mrs. A. Burkhart, Miss G. Burk­ 
hart, Mr. and Mrs. J. Hurley, Mr. and Mrs. R. Creed, Mr. and 
Mrs. F. Cowley. 

CLIFFORD ROAD: 

Mr. and Mrs. L. Goodson, Mr. and Mrs. A. Goodson, Mr. and 
Mrs. R: Hurley, Mr. and Mrs. M. Drought. 

HAWAlTI ROAD: 

Mr. and Mrs. C. Collins, Mr. and Mrs. S. Utrobin. 

l\'iAKINO ROAD: 

Mr. and Mrs. R. Barr, Mr. and Mrs. G. McAree, Mr. and Mrs. 
J. McAree. 

BALL R.OAD EXTENSION: 

Mr. and Mrs. R. Thruston, Mr. D. Hicks, Mr. and Mrs. W. 
McColl, Mr. and Mrs. N. McColl, Mr. R. Hodson. 

WILFORD ROAD: 

Mr. and Mrs. D. Newell, Mr. and Mrs. P. McCarthy, Mr. J. 
Amon, Mr. A. Nickel, Mr. J. Hurley, Miss P. Rossi, Mr. and Mrs. 
H. Hurley, Mr. W. Stainbridge, Mrs. M. Newell, Mr. and Mrs. 1. 
Rowe, Mr. J. Lacy, Mr. and Mrs. M. Hurley, Mr. and Mrs. B. 
Newell. ' 



PRESENT PUPILS AND STAFF - 1967. 
Back row: Mr. A. J. Tur~er, MD-TCC Hurley, Catherine Thurston, Ann Aitken, Diane Jenkins, Glenda McAree, 

Miss H. Macleav. 
Second row: David Cowley, Robert Burkhart, Malcolm Jones, Jocelyn Patricia Hurley, John Thurston. David 

Aitken. Christopher Bur-khart, Shane: McCarthy, Sally Collins, Shane Rowe. 
Third row: Christopher Turner, Karen Cowley, Paul Bonner, Glenvss Drought, l>hiJip Turner, I{ay Schultz, Jane 

Collins, Daniel Rowe. 
Fourth row: Peter Burkhart, Jane Thurston, Gary Schultz, Grant Hurtev, Alan Jones, Jncelvn Beattie, Grant 

McAree, Jocelyn Mary Hurley. 
Front TOW: Patricia Cowley, Anthony Hurley. Nicola Turner, Diane Ilurley. Joy SCOWIl~ Donna McCarthy. 

Absent: Murray Schultz. 


